Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2019

Davis County, Petitioner/Plaintiff, v. Purdue Pharma, L.P., Et Al., Respondents/Defendants: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Davis County has the right to choose where to pursue the damages it suffered as a result of the opioid crisis created by the Defendants, provided that its chosen venue is proper. Davis County chose to file its lawsuit in a proper venue, i.e., the Davis County Second Judicial District Court, where the harms occurred, where witnesses are located, and where Davis County itself is located. When presented with a motion to transfer venue of Davis County's case, the district court determined that none of the grounds contained in the transfer of venue statute were applicable (implicitly acknowledging that the Second District is a proper venue by retaining venue there for trial) but nonetheless erroneously exerted its allegedly unbridled inherent authority to transfer the case, for all discovery and pretrial issues, anyway.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Issue

Whether the district court made an error of law or abused its discretion in using its inherent authority to transfer venue of Davis County's opioid case from the Davis County court in the Second Judicial District to the Summit County court in the Third Judicial District for all discovery and pretrial purposes while retaining venue for trial.

Standard of Review

Generally, the standard of review for a ruling on a motion to change venue is abuse of discretion. *See, e.g., Gunn Hill Dairy Properties, LLC v. Los Angeles Dep't of Water & Power*, 2015 UT App 261, ¶ 7, 361 P.3d 703; *Chamblee v. Stocks*, 344 P.2d 980, 981 (Utah 1959). Nevertheless, the application of the abuse of discretion standard is

conditional in nature, as certain preliminary requirements set forth in Utah's venue transfer statute, Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309, must first be satisfied before the trial court can grant a transfer of venue. *See, e.g., Hale v. Barker*, 70 Utah 284, 259 P. 928, 931 (1927) ("District courts of this state have only such authority to transfer for trial causes of action from one county to another as is granted by the Code."); *Durham v. Duchesne County*, 893 P.2d 581, 583 (Utah 1995) (finding that Utah's transfer of venue statute requires "specific grounds for transferring venue"); *Rimensburger v. Rimensburger*, 841 P.2d 709, 711 (Utah Ct. App. 1992)¹ (determining that a district court's authority to transfer was limited by the venue transfer statute).

The Utah Supreme Court adopted and applied an analogous "conditional" discretionary standard of review in the case of *Langeland v. Monarch Motors, Inc.*, 952 P.2d 1058, 1060–61 (Utah 1998). There the Court, upon "close examination of rule 36(b) and applicable case law" found that "the decision to permit amendment of rule 36 admissions is not entirely within the discretion of the trial court; judicial discretion is permitted only after certain preliminary conditions have been met." *Id.* at 1060.

Therefore, "because the rule does not give the trial court discretion to disregard the preliminary conditions of rule 36(b), its judgment as to whether those conditions have been satisfied is subject to a somewhat more exacting standard of review." *Id.* at 1061.

The Court then articulated a two-step review process: first to ascertain whether the preliminary conditions of the rule had been satisfied and second to review the trial court's

¹ The case references Utah Code Ann. § 78-13-9 (1992), renumbered as Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309 by Laws 2008, c.3, § 704, eff. Feb. 7, 2008.

discretion to grant the motion.² *Id.* at 1060-61. Ultimately, because the trial court had not supplied findings of fact and conclusions of law on these preliminary conditions, the Court reviewed compliance with the rule 36(b) requirements de novo to determine whether the trial court had discretion to grant the motion. *Id.*

A similar "conditional" discretionary standard of review should be applied here. As in *Langeland*, a close examination of Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309 and applicable Utah case law shows that the decision to grant a transfer of venue is not entirely within the discretion of the trial court and that judicial discretion is permitted only after certain preliminary conditions have been satisfied. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309; *Hale*, 259 P. at 931; *Durham*, 893 P.2d at 583; *Rimensburger*, 841 P.2d at 711. Indeed, this Court has held that "the right of the court to make an order transferring the case . . . necessarily requires a consideration of the statute relating to the place of trial of actions" and that Utah's venue transfer statute "enumerates the grounds that *will authorize* a district court to transfer a cause for trial from one county to another." *Hale*, 259 P. at 930 (emphasis added).

In addition, given that this appeal concerns the application of Utah's venue statutes, including specifically Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309 and related statutes, the appeal necessarily involves questions of statutory interpretation and applicability. Under well-settled Utah law, questions of statutory interpretation and applicability are questions of law that are reviewed "for correctness, giving no deference to the district court's

² The Court found that "[t]he trial court has discretion to deny a motion to amend, but its discretion to grant such a motion comes into play only after the preliminary requirements are satisfied." *Id.* at 1061.

interpretation." *Pearson v. Lamb*, 2005 UT App 383, ¶ 5, 121 P.3d 717 (quoting *Bd. of Educ. of Jordan Sch. Dist. v. Sandy City Corp.*, 2004 UT 37, ¶ 8, 94 P.3d 234); *see also Vorher v. Henriod*, 2013 UT 10, ¶ 6. 297 P.3d 614 (holding that statutory interpretation is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness).

Preservation

The issue of authority to transfer venue was preserved in the district court through briefing and oral argument on the motion to transfer venue:

- March 29, 2019 Johnson & Johnson and Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s Motion to Transfer Venue (R. at 1495-2995, 3005-3624.)
- April 11, 2019 Plaintiff's Opposition to Johnson & Johnson and Janssen
 Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s Motion to Transfer Venue (R. at 5290-5299.)
- May 6, 2019 Reply Memorandum Supporting Johnson & Johnson and Janssen
 Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s Motion to Transfer Venue (R. at 6316-6333.)
- May 14, 2019 Notice of Supplemental Authority (R. at 6608-6614.)
- May 15, 2019 Oral argument minute entry and transcript (R. at 6617-6618;
 7118-7251.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents the question of whether a district court has authority to transfer a case out of a proper venue where the conditions of the venue statute are not met and the only cited authority for the transfer is the court's allegedly unbridled inherent authority.

Davis County filed a lawsuit for damages it suffered and continues to suffer as a result of the opioid epidemic that Defendants created. Davis County filed that lawsuit in the Second Judicial District Court, which has jurisdiction over cases filed in Davis County.

- 1. Plaintiff Davis County filed its complaint in this matter in the Second Judicial District Court on August 28, 2018 against dozens of entities and individuals associated with the opioid epidemic. (R. at 1-143.)
- 2. On November 9, 2018, opioid defendants in Summit County joined in a motion to consolidate the opioid cases pending in Utah. (Summit County Case 180500119, Docket No. 195.)
- 3. On November 23, 2019, Plaintiff Davis County filed an opposition vigorously opposing the motion to consolidate on the grounds that the applicable rules, including Rule 42 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, did not allow it and that the opioid cases generally and Davis County's opioid case specifically are local cases that should be heard locally. (Summit County Case 180500119, Docket No. 245.)
- 4. On December 13, 2018, the Summit County court unilaterally entered a pre-consolidation case management order in the Third District Court, staying Davis County's case, along with all the other opioid cases pending in the state. (Summit County Case 180500119, Docket No. 273.)

- 5. Plaintiff Davis County, along with selected other plaintiffs, filed an objection to that order on December 21, 2018. (Summit County Case 180500119, Docket No. 274.)
- 6. After briefing and oral argument, the Summit County court issued its *Ruling and Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part the Manufacturer Defendants' Motion to Consolidate*, originally issued on March 25, 2019 and amended on April 9, 2019. In that ruling, the court determined that it did not have jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 42 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to consolidate cases outside the district with cases in the Third District Court but suggested that the defendants may want to file motions to transfer venue under Utah Code § 78B-3-309 in the other opioid cases, which cases could then be consolidated. (Summit County Case 180500119, Docket No. 332, attached as Addendum B.)
- 7. Thereafter, on March 29, 2019, Defendants Johnson & Johnson and Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. did file a motion to transfer venue, for pretrial proceedings only, under Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309 in the Davis County case. (R. at 1495-2995, 3005-3624.)³

³ No other defendants joined in the motion to transfer venue. Defendants Mallinckrodt LLC; Purdue Pharma L.P.; Purdue Pharma Inc.; Purdue Pharmaceuticals L.P.; Purdue Pharma Manufacturing L.P.; The Purdue Frederick Company; and The Purdue Frederick Company Inc. filed notices of non-opposition. (R. at 4496-4501; 4502-4504.) Defendants Allergan Finance, LLC; Allergan Sales, LLC; Allergan USA Inc.; and Allergan PLC filed a response to the motion to transfer venue, urging the court to grant their motion to consolidate instead. (R. 5290-5299.)

- 8. On April 26, 2019, the Allergan defendants alternatively filed a motion to consolidate six of the Utah opioid cases into the Davis County case under Rule 42 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. at 4505-5289.)
 - 9. Davis County opposed both motions. (R. at 4239-4284; 6340-6361.)
- 10. On May 15, 2019, the district court held oral argument on the motion to transfer venue and the motion to consolidate and then took the matters under advisement. (R. at 6617-6618.)
- 11. On May 31, 2019, the district court issued its *Ruling and Order on Defendants Johnson & Johnson and Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s Motion to Transfer Venue and Defendants Allergan's Motion to Consolidate Related Cases* ("Venue Order"). In the ruling, the district court specifically determined that the change of venue statute, Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309, was inapplicable, but determined that it could nonetheless transfer venue, because there was nothing prohibiting it from doing transferring under its inherent authority to manage its cases. (R. at 6873-6878, attached as Addendum A.)
- 12. In the same ruling, the district court denied the motion to consolidate, because "it is not appropriate for this Court to consider taking a position that would be inconsistent with the position already taken in the Summit County case on the issue of consolidation of cases from outside the Third District." (Add. A, p. 5.)
- 13. Davis County was inadvertently left off of the service list for the Venue Order but did eventually discover it on the docket.
- 14. On June 13, 2019, Davis County filed its *Petition for Permission to Appeal from an Interlocutory Order*.

- 15. On June 28, 2019, Davis County also filed a motion to stay the trial court's Venue Order with the Utah Court of Appeals. On July 1, 2019, the stay was granted.
- 16. Respondents Johnson & Johnson and Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. filed an opposition to Davis County's petition on July 2, 2019.
- 17. On July 11, 2019, the Utah Court of Appeals granted Davis County's petition for permission to file an interlocutory appeal. (*Order Granting Petition for Permission to Appeal from an Interlocutory Order*, attached as Addendum C.) The case was thereafter recalled by this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred when it transferred venue of Davis County's case out of the proper venue in Davis County, finding that Utah's venue statute did not apply and invoking its inherent authority to transfer the case anyway. First, the venue statute prohibits the transfer. The venue statute clearly defines the limits of a court's ability to transfer venue to a transfer for trial under one of four enumerated grounds. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309. The venue statute thus did not permit the transfer of Davis County's case to Summit County where there was not a request to transfer for trial and none of the four grounds applied. Second, the district court's inherent authority does not extend to a transfer of venue outside the venue statute. Indeed, "[a] change of venue is prohibited except when authorized by law." *State v. Cauble*, 563 P.2d 775, 777 (Utah 1977). The court's transfer then, under only its inherent authority, was erroneous.

ARGUMENT

The district court erred in granting the motion to change venue, for discovery and pretrial purposes, from Davis County to Summit County. The transfer is not permitted under Utah's change of venue statute, as the transfer was not for trial and did not satisfy any of the four grounds necessary to properly transfer venue. Further, the district court exceeded the scope of its inherent authority by transferring venue outside of the venue statute. This Court should therefore reverse the district court's Venue Order, and the case should be remanded to the Second Judicial District Court for discovery, trial, and all other purposes.

I. THE DISTRICT COURT EXCEEDED ITS AUTHORITY BY GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO TRANSFER VENUE ON GROUNDS NOT AUTHORIZED BY SECTION 78B-3-309.

The district court erred in changing venue of this case from Davis County to Summit County where the requirements of the change of venue statute were not met. The analysis under Utah law is clear: "[d]istrict courts of this state have only such authority to transfer for trial causes of action from one county to another as is granted by the Code." Hale v. Barker, 70 Utah 284, 259 P. 928, 931 (1927). Thus, in order to properly transfer Davis County's case out of Davis County, the district court must have relied on some provision of the Utah Code. In Utah, a transfer of venue is permitted only in four specific instances after certain preliminary conditions are met:

The court <u>may</u>, on motion, change <u>the place of trial</u>⁵ in the following cases:

- (1) when the county designated in the complaint is not the proper county;
- (2) when there is reason to believe that an impartial trial cannot be had in the county, city, or precinct designated in the complaint;
- (3) when the convenience of witnesses <u>and</u> the ends of justice would be promoted by the change;

⁴ Utah's current venue transfer statute Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309 is in effect the same as it existed in the *Hale* case in 1917 under Section 6533, which provided that "the court may, on motion, change the place of trial in the following cases: (1) when the county designated in the complaint is not the proper county; (2) when there is a reason to believe that an impartial trial cannot be had therein; (3) when the convenience of witnesses and the ends of justice would be promoted by a change; (4) when from any cause the judge is disqualified from acting; (5) when all of the parties to an action, by stipulation, or by consent in open court, entered in the minutes, may agree that the place of trial may be changed to any county in the state." *Hale*, 259 P. at 929-930 (quoting Comp. Laws Utah 1917 § 6533).

⁵ The motion to transfer requested transfer for all purposes <u>except</u> trial. This issue is discussed in more detail below.

(4) when all the parties to an action, by stipulation or by consent in open court entered in the minutes, agree that the place of trial may be changed to another county.

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309 (emphasis added).

In the instance case, the preliminary condition of a motion to change the place of trial was not met and none of the four grounds for proper change was met. The change of venue of Davis County's case was therefore improper.

A. The Transfer of Davis County's Case for Purposes Other Than Trial is Not Authorized by the Venue Statute.

The district court erred in transferring venue of Davis County's case for any reason other than trial. As noted above, the venue statute allows a court to change venue when it is presented with a motion to "change the place of trial" (and when one of four grounds is met.) In this case, a motion to change the place of trial, as required by the venue statute, was not before the court. Defendants moved the district court under Section 78B-3-309(3) to transfer this case to the Summit County court for discovery and other pretrial purposes—but not for trial. While a court can certainly transfer a case at any stage for trial, which would then transfer all other issues including discovery, it cannot, under the plain language of the statute, transfer a case solely for all purposes except trial. The district court was therefore not authorized to transfer venue, as the preliminary condition to a proper transfer, a motion to change the place of trial, was not before it.

⁶ The district court acknowledged as much in its Venue Order, stating that the statute "only addresses a situation where the court is asked to transfer a matter to another district for purposes of trial. Such a motion is not before the Court at this time in this case." (Add. A, p. 4.)

The district court in this case sidestepped the change of venue statutory requirements, acknowledging that the statute "is silent" on a request to transfer "solely for purposes of resolving the pretrial issues" but stating that "the statute does not prohibit the type of transfer sought in the present motion." (Venue Order, p. 4.) Utah's statutory interpretation rules and case law do not permit this kind of reasoning. Again, Utah courts only have authority to change venue as provided by statute. "A change of venue is prohibited except when authorized by law." *State v. Cauble*, 563 P.2d 775, 777 (Utah 1977); *see also Hale v. Barker*, 70 Utah 284, 259 P. 928, 931 (1927) ("District courts of this state have only such authority to transfer for trial causes of action from one county to another as is granted by the Code.").

District courts cannot simply ignore the venue statute because it is limited to transfers for the place of trial. Utah courts are required to follow established statutory interpretation rules and look first to "the plain language of the statute itself" "to evince the true intent and purpose of the Legislature." *Marion Energy, Inc. v. KFJ Ranch P'ship*, 2011 UT 50, ¶ 14, 267 P.3d 863. In interpreting that plain language, Utah courts must presume "all omissions to be purposeful," and "the expression of one term should be interpreted as the exclusion of another." *Id*.

In this case, the plain language of the venue transfer statute includes a prerequisite that the transfer must be of "the place of trial." Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309. The omission in the statute of transfers for other purposes, such as discovery or other pretrial issues, must be interpreted as a purposeful omission. In other words, transfers of venue for purposes other than for trial are not permitted by statute. Again, district courts have

no right to order a change of venue on grounds not supported by statute. *See Hale*, 259 P. at 930-31 (finding that where action was instituted by plaintiff in the proper county, it "was the official duty of the district court of Weber county to retain jurisdiction unless transfer of the cause for trial to another county was granted upon a showing of the other, or some of the other, grounds enumerated in section 6533.").

In other words, a trial court's discretion or inherent authority to change venue is not absolute nor unbridled—the transfer at issue must be authorized by statute. And, under the current statutes, a district court's discretion in transferring venue is limited to transfers that are both for trial and grounded in one of the four prerequisites set forth in Section 78B-3-309. Thus, the district court's transfer of Davis County's case for all purposes except trial is not authorized by Section 78B-3-309.

Nothing in the plain language of the venue transfer statute justifies what amounts to a temporary transfer of venue to Summit County for discovery and pretrial purposes only, while simultaneously reserving future venue for trial in Davis County. Davis County filed its lawsuit in a proper forum. The district court may not then change the venue of trial—much less change venue solely for discovery and pretrial matters—absent satisfaction of at least one of the four enumerated grounds for change of venue or reliance on other authority. And, as demonstrated below and recognized by the district court, none of the four grounds of the venue statute is satisfied in this case.

B. The Transfer of Davis County's Case is Not Authorized Under Any of the Four Grounds Enumerated in the Venue Statute.

Even if that provision of the venue statute requiring a change in "the place of trial"

had been satisfied—which it indisputably was not—the transfer of Davis County's case is not permitted under any of the four statutory grounds found in Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-309. Consequently, the transfer of Davis County's case is prohibited for this additional reason.

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