Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2019

DAVIS COUNTY, Plaintiff/Appellant, vs. PURDUE PHARMA L.P., ET AL., Defendants/Appellees. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court did not abuse its discretion in temporarily transferring this case to Summit County for pretrial coordination with other opioid-related actions. It did so to conserve judicial resources, avoid inconsistent pretrial rulings, and avoid unnecessarily duplicative discovery and concluded "that a limited transfer of venue for pretrial proceedings will promote the ends of justice and the efficient administration of pending cases and dockets." To protect against any possibility of prejudice, the court also ordered that the case would return to Davis County for trial at the end of the consolidated pretrial proceedings.

On interlocutory appeal, Davis County challenges the transfer order, claiming that the district court exceeded its authority. But the county ignores the power of district courts to fashion orders that promote efficiency and justice. For one, the venue statute itself grants courts power to transfer cases for trial, so it necessarily allows for transfer for other matters less than trial. In any case, nothing in the provision strips courts of their inherent case management powers. Those flow from at least two sources: the court's inherent power and rule 42 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

District courts, for example, have inherent authority to manage their cases in a way that supports "fairness and thoroughness in administering justice." Rule 42 likewise affords the district court "considerable discretion to administer the business of its docket and determine how a

trial should be conducted." The flexibility provided by both sources of judicial power lead to the conclusion that the district court was well within its discretion to order transfer.

Davis County's primary argument to the contrary rests on Utah's venue statute, which, according to the county, prohibits the transfer order. As the district court recognized, the statute contains no express prohibition to transfer for pretrial proceedings as is sought here. And, in any case, the county's argument fails for two reasons: First, the county's position is predicated on caselaw that has been abrogated and superseded by intervening constitutional changes giving courts authority with respect to venue.

Second, the county's interpretation would create a separation of powers problem—it would allow the legislature to trump the judiciary with respect to procedural matters within the judicial department's purview. At a minimum, under the doctrine of constitutional avoidance, the Court should interpret the venue statute and the court's inherent powers in a manner that permits the transfer at issue here. Any other result would mean that courts in Utah are powerless to coordinate duplicative, multi-county actions for pretrial purposes. That would unduly hamstring trial courts who seek to manage related lawsuits in a fair and efficient way. It would also be extraordinarily inefficient—courts hearing multiple identical or materially identical actions presenting identical issues would have to consider the cases piecemeal, not only wasting resources but risking inconsistent rulings. This Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court has the inherent power to coordinate similar cases for pretrial proceedings.

Managing cases and dockets to increase efficiency is well within the inherent power of the district court. Though many of the matters confronting trial judges are common and covered in the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, others are not.

Courts thus retain "inherent powers," which fill gaps in the rules and "are necessary to the proper discharge of their [the courts'] duties." *In re Evans*, 130 P. 217, 224 (Utah 1913); *see also Dietz v. Bouldin*, 136 S. Ct. 1885, 1891 (2016) ("[T]his Court has long recognized that a district court possesses inherent powers that are governed not by rule or statute but by the control necessarily vested in courts to manage their own affairs so as to achieve the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases." (simplified)).

To provide judges flexibility in the myriad of case management issues they encounter, courts enjoy "broad latitude to control and manage the proceedings and preserve the integrity of the trial process." *State v. Parsons*, 781 P.2d 1275, 1282 (Utah 1989). This discretion stems from the court's "inherent powers as the authority in charge of the trial," *id.*, and includes the "power to punish for contempt, to make, modify, and enforce rules for the regulation of the business before the court, to amend its record and proceedings, to recall and control its process, to direct and control its officers," among others. *In re Evans*, 130 P. at 224. In short,

courts are "responsible for carrying the trial forward as efficiently and expeditiously as possible, consistent with fairness and thoroughness in administering justice," and their exercise of inherent power is fundamental to that goal. *See Parsons*, 781 P.2d at 1282 (simplified).

Indeed, Utah's appellate courts have regularly affirmed the breadth and flexibility of inherent power. In Western Water, LLC v. Olds, for example, this Court held that a district court had the inherent power to award litigation costs "even though [it] lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the merits" of the case. 2008 UT 18, ¶ 42, 184 P.3d 578. Thus, courts can "conduct in camera proceedings where the circumstance warrants," even when there is no specific legal authority to do so. See Kearns Tribune *Corp. v. Wilkinson*, 946 P.2d 372, 376 n.3 (Utah 1997) (simplified, collecting cases). They can also appoint a CEO to run a company under their inherent power. See Chen v. Stewart, 2004 UT 82, ¶¶ 50-53, 100 P.3d 1177 (allowing appointment of a CEO "based on the court's [similar] inherent equitable power" to appoint receivers). It is even within a court's inherent authority to refuse to exercise jurisdiction. Summa Corp. v. Lancer Indus., Inc., 559 P.2d 544, 546 (Utah 1977) ("[A]s part of the inherent power that our district courts have, ... they undoubtedly could refuse to exercise jurisdiction.").

Here, the district court acted well within its authority and did not abuse its discretion in transferring the case to the Third District to be coordinated with numerous other similar actions. The court properly used its "inherent powers" to "control and manage the proceedings." *Compare*

id., with R. 6876 (grounding the order on the court's authority to "manage its trials, cases, and docket"). In support of the transfer, the court determined that "there are significant benefits that will result from the partial transfer" of the case. R. 6876. Among those benefits are the "conservation of judicial resources," "avoidance of inconsistent legal rulings," less "unnecessarily duplicative discovery," and "judicial coordination and management of the extraordinary discovery" required in the case. R. 6876 (simplified). Those are not fanciful reasons. They are grounded in judicial economy and common sense. The district court's order thus fits squarely within its inherent power and should be affirmed for that reason alone.

II. This Court can affirm on alternative grounds because the rules of procedure allow the type of consolidation that the district court ordered.

Although the district court did not explicitly cite to the procedural rules, its order can be affirmed because the rules provide an alternative source of power for the court's temporary consolidation order. *Bailey v. Bayles,* 2002 UT 58, ¶ 10, 52 P.3d 1158, 1161 ("It is well settled that an appellate court may affirm the judgment appealed from 'if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record[.]"). Rule 42 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure empowers district courts to do just what it did here—it allows them to consolidate "actions involving a common question of law or fact." Utah R. Civ. P. 42(a). In cases of such overlap, the rule sets out three broad powers:

- "it may order a joint hearing or trial of any or all the matters in issue in the actions";
- 2. "it may order all the actions consolidated"; and
- "it may make such orders concerning proceedings therein as may tend to avoid unnecessary costs or delay."
- Id.

The rule also allows the district court to order "a separate trial" of claims "in furtherance of convenience or to avoid prejudice." *Id*. Rule 42 is thus highly flexible, a point this Court has repeatedly recognized. "Rule 42(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure gives the trial court considerable discretion to administer the business of its docket and determine how a trial should be conducted." *Walker Drug Co. v. La Sal Oil Co.*, 972 P.2d 1238, 1244 (Utah 1998) (simplified); *see also Slusher v. Ospital*, 777 P.2d 437, 441 (Utah 1989) ("[T]rial courts enjoy considerable discretion in deciding bifurcation and consolidation requests under rule 42.").

Although it did not cite the rule directly, the district court invoked the powers granted by rule 42. It based its order on the finding that the "case before this Court clearly has common questions of law or fact shared with the similar opioid-related cases." R. 6874. And because that factual and legal overlap was not "genuinely disputed by [Davis County]," *id.*, the consolidation order met the threshold requirement of rule 42, *see* Utah R. Civ. P. 42(a) (allowing consolidation of "actions involving a common question of law or fact").

The relief granted in the order likewise conformed to rule 42's plain language. The temporary transfer effectively ordered "a joint hearing ... of any or all the matters in issue," in this case the significant pretrial issues of extraordinary discovery and related case management. *Cf.* Utah R. Civ. P. 42(a). It was also an "order[] concerning proceedings" issued in part "to avoid unnecessary costs" of discovery. *Compare id.* (allowing such orders), *with* R. 6877 (justifying the order because consolidation would "achieve the substantial benefits offered by pre-trial coordination" (simplified)).

Finally, the district court explicitly incorporated by reference the Summit County court's transfer order, which was based on rule 42. *See* R. 6876 (block quoting "Judge Mrazik's ruling" from Summit County regarding consolidation of cases); *see also id.* ("[T]he Court specifically agrees with Judge Mrazik's conclusion [regarding the benefits of consolidation]").

Taken together, the nature and substance of the court's order shows that it was a valid exercise of the court's "considerable discretion to administer the business of its docket" under rule 42. *See Walker Drug*, 972 P.2d at 1244 (simplified). The order also accords with rule 1's primary command "to achieve the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." Utah R. Civ. P. 1. The only difference between the order at issue here and other cases involving rule 42 is the fact that this one crossed over judicial district boundaries. That distinction makes no meaningful difference, however, because the judicial districts do not

impose any limitations on consolidation under rule 42. Instead, judicial districts are best understood as administrative boundaries that carry no substantive weight—at least for these purposes, the district lines do not segregate the district court into individual district courts distinct from one another.

That conclusion follows from a review of Utah's legal framework. The Utah Constitution, for example, commits determination of the physical number of Utah judges and courts to the legislative branch. *See* Utah Const. art VIII, § 6 ("The number of judges of the district court … shall be provided by statute."). But in spite of the recognition that there will be multiple physical judges and courts, the Constitution nonetheless treats all the district courts as a single entity: "*The district court* shall have original jurisdiction in all matters except as limited by this constitution or by statute." Utah Const. art VIII, § 5 (emphasis added); *see also id.* § 1 ("The judicial power of the state shall be vested … in a trial court of general jurisdiction known as *the district court.*" (emphasis added)). Thus, the Constitution by its plain language treats all physical district courts, regardless of number, as one and the same court—any district court is "the district court." *See id.* § 5.³

³ The conclusion that Utah's district courts are homogenous for purposes of pretrial consolidation is confirmed by the fact that judicial districts are optional, and not mandatory, under the Constitution. "Geographic divisions for all courts of record except the Supreme Court may be provided by statute." Utah Const. art VIII § 6; *see also id.* § ("[I]f geographic divisions are provided for any court"). Any contention that

Rule 42 follows the same approach. Instead of distinguishing between courts of a given district, it applies to "the court" categorically in the same way the Constitution addresses "the district court" categorically even though it also provides for multiple physical courts. *Compare* Utah R. Civ. P. 42(a) ("When actions involving a common question of law or fact are pending before the court, it may order"), *with* Utah Const. art VIII, § 5 ("The district court shall have original jurisdiction"). Rule 42 thus applies to cases pending in the district court generally, not to only those cases pending in a particular district.

In short, any district court is *the* district court. At least for purposes of this appeal, there is no meaningful distinction between the Davis County court and the Summit County court—both are the district court under the Utah Constitution and under the plain language of rule 42. For that reason, it is of no moment that the order on appeal crossed district boundaries. The power granted courts by rule 42 is not limited by administrative lines, and the district court properly invoked its powers.

If this Court does not affirm the district court's temporary transfer order as a proper exercise of inherent authority, it should affirm on the alternative ground that rule 42 provides the very sort of flexibility that was employed here. *See Walker Drug*, 972 P.2d at 1244. The district court's order was a proper exercise of judicial power.

the lines of judicial districts are substantive rather than administrative thus fails to persuade.

III. Davis County's argument against transfer is based on outdated law.

Section 309 of the venue statute does not, as the county argues, prohibit the transfer at issue here. Aplt. Br. at 9; *see also id.* at 9–13 (explaining the argument).

Section 309 provides as follows:

The court may, on motion, change the place of trial in the following cases: when the county designated in the complaint is not the proper county; (2) when there is reason to believe that an impartial trial cannot be had in the county, city or precinct designated in the complaint; (3) when the convenience of witnesses and the ends of justice would be promoted by the change; (4) when all the parties to an action, by stipulation or by consent in open court entered in the minutes, agree that the place of trial may be changed to another county.

Utah Code § 78B-3-309. Nothing in the statute prohibits the district court's order here.

For one, granting the power to transfer for trial "when the convenience of witnesses and the ends of justice would be promoted by the change" necessarily would encompass similar transfers for things short of trial. *See* R. 6959. At a minimum, the venue provision does not strip a district court of power here since the transfer was for pretrial purposes.

Putting aside the text of the statute, Davis County's argument proceeds in several flawed steps. The county first asserts that Utah courts "have only such authority to transfer for trial causes of action from one county to another as is granted by the Code." Aplt. Br. at 10 (quoting *Hale v*. *Barker*, 259 P. 928, 931 (Utah 1927)). The county then asserts that the Utah Code does not permit the sort of transfer that was ordered here: "the transfer of [the] case is not permitted under any of the four statutory grounds found in [section 309]." Aplt. Br. at 14. From those points, Davis County concludes that the district court's temporary transfer order was, in essence, ultra vires. *See* Aplt. Br. at 10 ("The district court exceeded its authority by granting Defendants' motion."). The syllogism is broken for at least two reasons.

First, Davis County's major premise is incorrect. The county's argument turns on its core assertion that courts have only the transfer-of-venue powers explicitly granted by the Utah Code. *See* Aplt. Br. at 9–12. This is essentially an assertion that venue is a topic wholly within the legislative realm. The case on which Davis County principally relies is *Hale v. Barker*, which holds that "[d]istrict courts of this state have only such authority to transfer for trial causes of action from one county to another as is granted by the Code." 259 P. at 931.⁴

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